
TOWN OF 

NEW LONDON, NEW HAMPSHIRE 
375 MAIN STREET • NEW LONDON, NH  03257 • WWW.NL-NH.COM 

 
 

 

Board of Selectmen 

February 11, 2008 

 
Present: 

Mark Kaplan (Selectman) 
Larry Ballin (Selectman) 
Brian Prescott (Selectman) 
Jessie Levine (Town Administrator) 
 

Also Present: 

Debbie Cross (InterTown Record) 
Thomas Brennan, Jr., PhD (Superintendent Kearsarge Regional School District) 
Larry LeBoeuf (KRSD Business Administrator) 
Karen Merrill-Antle (Warner School Board Representative) 
Sue Little (Community Garden Committee) 
Thea Lahti (Community Garden Committee) 
Emma Crane (Community Garden Committee) 
Bobbie Hambley (Community Garden Trustee)  
Gail Goddard (Community Garden Committee) 
Bob Bowers (Tracy Library Trustee) 
Charlie Dean (Tracy Library Trustee) 
Liz Meller (Tracy Library Trustee) 
 
Mark Kaplan opened the meeting at 8 a.m., and the Selectmen addressed seven items of business during 
the meeting. 
 

Minutes: 

 

Larry Ballin moved to accept the minutes of the January 26 Citizens’ Advisory Committee meeting.  
Brian Prescott seconded. No further discussion. Motion unanimously approved. 
 
Larry Ballin moved to accept the minutes of the February 4 Board of Selectmen meeting. Brian Prescott 
seconded. No further discussion. Motion unanimously approved. 
 
Petition Warrant Article:  Selectmen received a copy of the petition warrant article asking 
representatives to reject the “pledge” against new taxes in consideration of the rising property taxes in the 
state.  This will appear as Article 27 on the warrant, and is the only petition received.  Larry Ballin asked 
if this group wished to make any kind of presentation to the Board. Jessie Levine said they have not 
requested one recently, though she reminded Selectmen that they did receive a letter from the group that 
launched this initiative among towns, Granite State Fair Taxpayers Coalition.  Larry Ballin said he has 
not received any comment from residents on this one way or the other.   
 
Elderly Exemption:  Jessie Levine reported receipt of one request that the Town increase the income 
level for eligibility for the elderly tax exemption.  Currently, the income limitations are $26,800 for 
single, and $40,800 for married.  She informed the Selectmen that of the 261 municipalities that have an 



Board of Selectmen Meeting Minutes   
February 11, 2008 
Page 2 of 12 
 
 
elderly exemption, New London is in the top 30 with its current income and asset allowances and levels 
of exemptions.   
 
She reminded the Board that in 2003, the year the Town did the revaluation, they did increase the income 
limits for this.  In 2004, the Town raised the asset limits.  In 2005, it increased the amount of exemptions.  
The request before the Board now is only to increase the income limit.  Specifically, the resident requests 
that the income limit for married couples be increased to $42,000. She said that any change to those 
limitations would have to be approved by Town Meeting.  
 
Mark Kaplan asked how many receive the elderly exemption now. Jessie Levine said that she believes the 
number to be five (n.b., it is actually 15 for a total of $775,000 in exemptions).  Larry Ballin said his first 
inclination was to leave the numbers where they are, but on second thought, he said that with increasing 
fuel costs etc., this may not be an unreasonable request.  He asked what the financial impact to the Town 
would be.  Jessie Levine said that if the Board approves this specific request, it would mean about $700 
that the Town would not collect from each property owner who would become eligible, and that cost 
would be spread across all other taxpayers. She is not sure how many new participants there would be, as 
the Town has no access to income data. Again, she received only the one request.   
 
Mark Kaplan suggested they increase the income from $26,800 to $30,000 for singles, and from $40,800 
to $45,000 for married couples. That will address this specific request, and also allow the Board to see 
how many more become eligible.   
 
Larry Ballin moved to increase the income level allowing eligibility for the elderly exemption from 
$26,800 to $30,000 for singles, and from $40,800 to $45,000 for married couples, with no changes at this 
time to asset limits or amount of exemption.  Brian Prescott seconded. No further discussion.  The motion 
was unanimously approved.   
 
This will be added as Article 26 on the warrant.   
 
KRSD Proposed Budget:  For purposes of this discussion, the meeting referred to the five 2008 warrant 
articles for the Kearsarge Regional School district, as well as several pie charts and graphs. 
 
Larry LeBoeuf said that Article 1 proposes a 2008 operating budget of $33,938,535, but includes items 
covered by federal grants and food service, both of which are “wash” items.  He went on to refer to the 
pie charts on pages 3 and 4. 
 

o Wages and Benefits of $19,017,933 comprise 57% of the proposed budget. (50% increase) 
o Health benefits of $2,856,040 comprise 8% of the proposed budget.(2% increase) 
o Utilities and property insurance (including for the new middle school) of $4,067,420 comprise 

12% of the proposed budget.(4% increase) 
o Transportation costs of $2,343,362 (including for the out of district special ed students) comprise 

7% of the proposed budget. (20% increase) 
o Special ed out of district tuition of $904,755 comprises 3% of the proposed budget.  (12 % 

increase) Attached explanation points out that not only has tuition for these students increased, 
but the district had five additional placements in 2007 that had not been anticipated. 

o Food Service of $799,327 comprises 2% of the proposed budget.(8% increase)  
o Items covered by federal grants of $756,000 comprise 2% of the proposed budget. (4% increase)  
o Other Operating Costs of $3,193,698 comprise 9% of the proposed budget.(1% increase) 

 



Board of Selectmen Meeting Minutes   
February 11, 2008 
Page 3 of 12 
 
 
Jessie Levine noted the irony that the only section of the budget over which they have much control is 
“Other Operating Costs” and those are the costs directly related to education.  Larry LeBoeuf agreed that 
they have pretty much flat-funded operating costs except for the few that he has broken out in these 
diagrams.  
 
In response to Larry Ballin’s question, Larry LeBeouf said they have reached the end of their three year 
transportation contract with First Student, and are going out to bid. They anticipate receiving three bids 
by the deadline of February 22.  Tom Brennan asked to clarify that there are no added transportation costs 
as a result of the change to the new middle school.   
 
Brian Prescott asked how many students receive special education outside of the district.  Tom Brennan 
said the district has 297 special ed students now, and 14 of those receive services off-site.  In response to 
further question from the Selectmen, Larry LeBoeuf said that is an average of $70,000 per student (range 
$19,000 to $132,000 depending on need), not counting transportation. The district does place a couple of 
students in residential settings. Tom Brennan said students’ needs are assessed by a team including 
parents and specialists. Students are evaluated at least twice a year. He went on to say that KRSD has 
worked hard to develop programs within the district that would meet the majority of these needs.   
 
Mark Kaplan asked about federal aid for special ed.  Tom Brennan said that when the Individuals With 
Disabilities Education Act became law in 1972, the “promise” was that schools would receive 44% of the 
costs from the federal government. The reality is that at this point in time, KRSD receives from the 
federal government just under 20% of its special ed costs.  Mark Kaplan asked about state aid. Tom 
Brennan said there is very little, except catastrophic and Medicaid.   
 
Larry LeBoeuf went on to review Articles 2 through 5.   
 
Article 2 asks voters to raise and appropriate up to $50,000 for a Capital Reserve that had been 
established in 1994 for the purpose of addressing unanticipated capital expenses should a need arise for 
reconstructing or adding to existing schools.  This money is to be transferred from unencumbered surplus. 
Passage of the article each year allows the School Board to expend the fund as needed. For example, this 
year, some work was done on the boiler at the high school, and the septic system at the elementary school 
was replaced.  Jessie Levine further explained that the New London Trustees of the Trust Funds are the 
custodians of this reserve. During the year, the expenditures are made out of the general fund.   
 
Article 3 asks voters to establish an Expendable Trust Fund for the purpose of emergency funding of 
unanticipated Special Education costs within the district, and to raise and appropriate $75,000 to deposit 
into this fund, and to designate the School Board as agents to expend.  Larry LeBoeuf explained that this 
is a new fund being created with the intention of drawing down and eliminating the current fund for 
special education that is limited to costs for out of district special ed students.   
 
Article 4 asks voters to raise and appropriate $482,000 to place a bedrock well at the high school and to 
develop a water and wastewater plan for the district.  Jessie Levine explained that the School Board did 
consider bonding for this. That would  have spread the cost out over future years as is appropriate for 
something with this life expectancy. However, the concern was that if they did not get the 2/3 vote 
required for a bond, they would not have the funds to do this critical work.  Brian Prescott asked why the 
cost is so high. Tom Brennan said it is not just a new well, but also includes a 20,000 gallon tank, 
rewiring, redirecting wastewater, plus the wastewater plan for the entire district. He clarified that 
$482,000 is the estimate they got from the engineers they work with so that they could have a figure to 
present to voters. They will, however, put this out to bid. 



Board of Selectmen Meeting Minutes   
February 11, 2008 
Page 4 of 12 
 
 
 
Article 5 asks voters to raise and appropriate $665,000 for unforeseen special education costs.  This will 
be funded from accumulated interest on the middle school bond.  Tom Brennan said that last year they 
received approval to spend up to $500,000 of this interest, but they find that they have more and are 
asking voters for this larger amount this year. The money would become part of existing revenues.  Larry 
Ballin asked what the interest rate is. Tom Brennan said just under 5%.Mark Kaplan asked if they could 
repay that and borrow now at a lower rate.  Jessie Levine said no, as this is through the bond bank.   

-- 
Tom Brennan and Karen Merrill-Antle presented the Board with the results of their recent SWOT 
analysis. That was a four month process of interviews with district personnel to identify Strengths, 
Weaknesses, Opportunities and Threats, and to develop both a Vision statement and a Mission statement. 
Before undertaking the project, they met with Anne Ponder, former president of Colby Sawyer College, 
who conducted a similar project there.  The intention is to do this with all towns in the district, including 
parent and other groups. The draft provided at this meeting will be presented to the public, and feedback 
will be welcomed.   
 
Mark Kaplan asked if the new school is open yet. Tom Brennan said they took ownership of it on January 
17 and students will be moving in on March 3. 
  
Larry Ballin asked about homeschoolers. Tom Brennan said they have 92 now. He observed that now as 
in contrast to previous years, homeschooling parents are not accountable to the school district, other than 
for reporting purposes.  Home schooled students are not calculated into any funding formulas.  Brian 
Prescott asked if they are included in extra curricular activities. Tom Brennan said yes, as long as space is 
available.  Larry Ballin suggested he look into the possibility of somehow working those numbers into 
revenue sources.  His sense is that some of those home schooled may come into the district later for 
special ed needs.   
 
Brian Prescott asked about the SAU building. Tom Brennan said they do not anticipate moving those 
offices within the next few years. A number of options are under consideration including using some 
space in the old middle school. Speaking of that, Jessie Levine asked what they are calling that property 
now. Tom Brennan said, again a number of options have been mulled over, but they are leaning toward 
referring to that property as the “New London Campus.”   
 
Community Garden: Jessie Levine reported on her conversation with Town Counsel, who disagreed 
with Terry Knowles about the Library Trustees not being able to appoint a subcommittee.  He did feel the 
plan to appoint a town committee for a period of time while that committee raises funds for the current 
year and prepares paperwork in anticipation of its 501(c)(3) status would be all right.  His primary 
concern would be that they would have to be careful to not mix private and public funds. He agreed that a 
memorandum of understanding should be written. 
 
Sue Little said the Garden Committee reviewed all the options, and would like to leave at least two on the 
table.  Applying for 501(c)(3) status right away would be difficult for them as it would require that they 
do a separate fundraiser for that purpose.  They cannot use funds collected for the garden to apply for the 
501(c)(3).  She acknowledged that Terry Knowles has said she will help with the paperwork, but they will 
need the $750 filing fee for IRS.  She also pointed out that there is a significant difference between the 
Friends of the Library and this group. The former have as an objective enhancing growth of the library. 
The Community Garden Committee was formed simply to add to the Town’s contribution for 
maintenance of the community garden.   
 



Board of Selectmen Meeting Minutes   
February 11, 2008 
Page 5 of 12 
 
 
The Garden Committee would be most in favor of becoming a committee of the Town with the Trustees 
of the Trust Funds holding their money.  That would give them the opportunity to raise funds right away.  
Their second choice would be appointment as a committee for a year while they raise funds for the 
current year, and look into becoming a 501(c)(3).  They do not feel becoming a 501(c)(3) should be an 
absolute requirement. They feel there is a possibility that by the end of the year, both they and the 
Selectmen may find that is not the best way to go.   
 
Larry Ballin said he is in favor of their becoming a stand alone 501(c)(3). His concern is that maintaining 
the garden to this standard not become a Town responsibility.  Sue Little asked when that had happened 
before, and Larry Ballin referred to the skating rink.   
 
Sue Little pointed out that the garden is part of the larger area in back of the library, and that in 2002, a 
Restoration Committee was formed consisting of some Garden Club members, some Library Trustees and 
others. They prepared and presented the plan for restoration of that area including restoring the stone 
walls, steps, soils as well as the flower and shrub beds, to the Board of Library Trustees, and that Board 
voted to go ahead with the restoration.  That Board, not the Restoration Committee, has the authority to 
spend money on this.  The current Garden Committee was formed to raise funds to supplement what the 
Town gives to the Library for this purpose. The grounds do belong to the Town. She said that when they 
started, the grounds were badly deteriorated. No one funded plants, mowing, tree care or raking.  She 
suggested it would not make sense to let it go now, after the Library has invested $120,000 in the 
restoration. In response to question from the Board, she said that the Library’s contribution to that was 
$25,000, and the rest came for private donations.  
 
Mark Kaplan recalled that at one point, the Town agreed to contribute, but that amount was to be reduced 
each year until it reaches zero. His understanding then was that some entity would make up the 
difference.   
 
Sue Little said the Garden Committee never said it could take responsibility for the entire area behind the 
library.  As it is, they are having to pay for mowing in that area, and they are doing all the raking.   
 
Bob Bowers asked to clarify a statement he made earlier regarding the history of the deed. He said since 
1951, the Town owns the property without restrictions.   
 
He went on to say that he has reviewed the Library Trustees’ minutes from 2001-2006, and they do not 
reflect how we got to the point we are at today.  The minutes do reflect the vote that the Library donate 
$25,000 and they do reflect some discussion regarding the Friends and the Garden Committee becoming a 
501(c)(3) organization.   
 
Referring to the difference in legal opinion as to whether or not the Library Trustees can appoint a 
subcommittee, he suggested that the difference is in the definitions of subcommittee and committee. Prior 
to August of last year, the Garden Committee had been operating under the umbrella of the Library (much 
as the Friends do), but they were operating as a stand-alone committee, raising and spending their own 
funds, self governing.  Legally, only the Town can appoint such a stand-alone committee. The Library 
Trustees could appoint a subcommittee consisting of Trustees, whose funds would be run through the 
Library budget.  But, he said the Library has always seen this (the Garden Committee) as being a separate 
committee. He said the Library Trustees are extremely appreciative of the work the Garden Committee 
has done, and the restoration of the historic garden, but the Library does not want to include garden 
maintenance in its operating budget. Library Trustees did suggest the Garden Committee go to the Budget 



Board of Selectmen Meeting Minutes   
February 11, 2008 
Page 6 of 12 
 
 
Committee.  He added that the Library cannot put garden maintenance in its budget without Town 
approval anyway.   
 
Larry Ballin asked if the $750 filing fee can come out of the $3000 they have in the garden fund now.  
Bob Bowers said that could be mixing public and private funds.  Mark Kaplan asked if the $750 is the 
only drawback the Garden Committee sees in becoming a 501(c)(3). Sue Little said it has been pointed 
out that they would have to raise those funds separately.  Also, becoming a separate committee would 
involve issues as insurance.  Jessie Levine said that would all be spelled out in the memorandum of 
understanding. A lot would depend on what the committee says when it is raising the funds.  They could 
word their fundraising to include both the charitable mission plus operating expenses.   
 
Sue Little said she is concerned that they not give the impression that the Garden Committee would take 
total responsibility for that property. There is lawn and tree care to be addressed also.  She reminded 
everyone that Terry Knowles said that this is Town property, and the Town’s responsibility.  The Garden 
Committee’s immediate concern is that their hands are tied right now.  
 
Thea Lahti said there seem to be three topics under discussion here: administrative, maintenance, and 
history.  She suggested the group tackle one at a time.  Jessie Levine said the Board of Selectmen needs to 
make a recommendation, and other issues can be sorted out then.  
 
Larry Ballin agreed that this is Town property, but he pointed out that no entity—the Selectmen on behalf 
of the Town, Library Trustees on behalf of the Library, or the Garden Committee, is willing to take on 
long term responsibility to maintain the garden in this condition.  He pointed out that if this were a 
business, they would simply cut their losses, and let the grounds there return to grass that would just 
require basic care.   
 
He suggested forming a committee that would sunset after one year, and that would include one 
representative from the Board of Selectmen, one from the Library Trustees, and perhaps one from the 
Public Works Department—though Jessie Levine pointed out that that department is not responsible for 
library grounds.   
 
Larry Ballin also suggested looking at some grants.  Brian Prescott asked if the garden is registered.  Sue 
Little said yes, it is registered with the Garden Conservancy, and Library of Congress. The 
correspondence between the Olmsteds and Jane Tracy was found at the Library of Congress, and a copy 
of all that is available at Tracy Library now.  It is a nationally important historic garden.  
 
Sue Little clarified that the Garden Committee is interested in taking responsibility for the garden—that 
is, for the flower and shrub beds, and keeping those in public park condition, but they should not have to 
mow and rake.  She pointed out that there are three more sides to the Library grounds. If the Library 
chooses to restore those, wouldn’t they expect a committee to come along and take responsibility? Larry 
Ballin said he hoped that in that instance, the Library would look to have a substantial endowment in 
place to fund that every year.  
 
Bob Bowers returned to the discussion of the options before them now.  Trustees would be happy with 
having the Town appoint a Garden Committee for one year with the idea that it would become a 501(c)(3) 
at the end of the year. He said the Garden Committee does still have $3000 (held now by the Library) that 
it could use for spring clean up this year, to get started. And, he added that they can begin fundraising as 
soon as they file papers for the 501(c)(3) with the State. However, donations would not be tax deductible 
until the process of becoming a 501(c)(3) is complete.  He said, however, that if the Committee decides at 



Board of Selectmen Meeting Minutes   
February 11, 2008 
Page 7 of 12 
 
 
the end of the year to not go forward with the 501(c)(3), the Library Trustees would not want to have to 
wrestle with this issue again.  He said if the Library must take on this responsibility, it would spend on 
garden maintenance only what it has in its budget, and not more.   He agreed that there are both physical 
and beautification reasons to restore the grounds in front of the Library.   
 
Mark Kaplan said there needs to be a separate entity to take over responsibility for the garden.  It would 
have to have its own fundraisers. His feeling is that the Town will continue to say yes to funds for this, 
but there is a huge reluctance on the part of public officials to take this on.  He asked to hear from others 
present at this meeting.  Both Bobbie Hambley and Emma Crane expressed concern that the Garden 
Committee not remain in limbo on this. They need to begin fundraising now. Thea Lahti expressed 
preference for continuing as a committee for one year, while preparing to become a 501(c)(3). She said 
the Town, Library and Garden Committee need to work out the memorandum of understanding. Jessie 
Levine said it would be similar to a lease negotiation.  Charlie Dean said he agreed that the Trustees do 
not want to spend another year on this discussion. He said it would be more productive to go forward with 
filing for the 501(c)(3) now.  Brian Prescott agreed that there is no point in drawing this out another year. 
If the 501(c)(3) committee fails, then they can reevaluate things. Sue Little said they need immediate 
authorization to begin fundraising. Brian Prescott said his sense from the January 28 meeting was that the 
attorney general could have this paperwork underway within a week.  
 
Larry Ballin moved that the Board of Selectmen recommend that the Garden Committee go forward with 
the 501(c)(3) process.  Then they will create the memorandum of understanding. Brian Prescott seconded. 
No further discussion. The motion was unanimously approved.   
 
Bob Bowers pointed out that there are still funds available for the garden held by the Library Trustees.  
Those funds could be used for spring cleanup and start-up of the garden while the committee raised funds 
via the 501(c)(3).   
 
2008 Warrant 
 
The Board of Selectmen reviewed the warrant articles and assigned each article for presentation at Town 
Meeting. 
 
Article 3 asks voters to raise and appropriate $1,389,271 for General Government Operations. Selectmen 
agreed to recommend this, and Mark Kaplan will lead discussion on it at Town Meeting.  
 
Article 4 asks voters to raise and appropriate $1,430,777 for Public Safety. Selectmen agreed to 
recommend this, and Larry Ballin will lead discussion of it at Town Meeting. 
 
Article 5 asks voters to raise and appropriate $2,433,658, for Highways & Streets, and Sanitation, with a 
note that sewage collection charges are covered by sewer user fees. Selectmen agreed to recommend this, 
and Brian Prescott will lead discussion of it at Town Meeting.  
 
Article 6 asks voters to raise and appropriate $134,122 for Health and Welfare. Selectmen agreed to 
recommend this, and Mark Kaplan will lead discussion of it at Town Meeting. 
 
Article 7 asks voters to raise and appropriate $631,114 for Recreation, Culture and Conservation.  
Selectmen agreed to recommend this, and Larry Ballin will lead discussion of this at Town Meeting. 
 



Board of Selectmen Meeting Minutes   
February 11, 2008 
Page 8 of 12 
 
 
Article 8 asks voters to raise and appropriate $259,130 for Principal and Interest of Long Term Debt. 
Selectmen agreed to recommend this, and Brian Prescott will lead discussion on this at town meeting.  
 
Article 9 asks voters to raise and appropriate $660,550 to deposit in already established capital reserve 
funds.  Again, sewer user fees will cover the deposit into the Sewer Department Capital Reserve. 
Selectmen agreed to recommend this, and Mark Kaplan will lead discussion of this at Town meeting. 
 
Article 10 asks if the Town will change the name and purpose of the Police Department Copier Capital 
Reserve Fund to Police Department Office Equipment Capital Reserve Fund.  Selectmen agreed to 
recommend this, and Larry Ballin will open discussion of it at Town Meeting. A 2/3 vote will be required 
to change the purpose of a capital reserve.  
 
Article 11 asks voters to raise and appropriate $96,800 for new equipment purchases (specifically 
Highway Department pick up truck, tree chipper, Sewer Department pick up truck and grit removal for 
pump station, certain computers at Tracy Library), and to authorize funding those amounts by withdrawal 
from relative capital reserves.  Selectmen agreed to recommend this, and Brian Prescott will lead 
discussion of it at Town Meeting. 
 
Article 12 asks voters to raise and appropriate $140,000 for carpeting the main floor and stairway and 
reconfiguring the circulation area at Tracy Library, purchasing chairs for Whipple Memorial Town Hall, 
painting Old Colby Academy building, beginning renovation at Whipple Memorial Hall, and to authorize 
funding the amounts by withdrawal from the relative capital reserves. Selectmen agreed to recommend 
this, and Mark Kaplan will lead discussion of it at Town Meeting. 
 
Article 13 asks voters to raise and appropriate $18,500 for the purpose of milfoil prevention and treatment 
in New London waterbodies, and to authorize withdrawal of that amount from Milfoil Prevention and 
Treatment Capital Reserve.  Selectmen agreed to recommend this, and Larry Ballin will lead discussion 
of it at Town Meeting.  In response to question from Selectmen, Jessie Levine said that Messer Pond has 
something in its budget for this.   
 
Article 14 asks voters to raise and appropriate $75,000 for engineering costs and contingency for 
construction of a roundabout at the Newport and County Road intersection and sidewalks on Newport 
Road and County Road, and to authorize withdrawal of that amount from the Intersection Improvement 
Capital Reserve Fund.  Jessie Levine said this is only prudent, given that they have budgeted so close to 
the estimated costs. She reminded Selectmen that the hospital and water precinct have agreed to bear a 
share of the overage, but the latter expressed concern about having to use its contingency for it.   
 
Brian Prescott asked what happens if contingencies arise in a greater amount than $75,000. Jessie Levine 
said they would have to petition DRA to allow them to spend more.  Or, she said they could go ahead and 
appropriate the entire reserve now, but she cautioned, in that case, the water precinct may raise some 
question about agreeing to use its contingency to bear its share of the overage.  Brian Prescott said he 
does not mind leaving it as is, as long as there will be some way to get the money out if needed—though 
he added that costs are rising every day, and he would rather face the music now.   
 
Mark Kaplan said he feels $75,000 will be enough, though he would not object to increasing it to $85,000 
or $90,000. The only real question here is what they will find when they start digging. They are taking the 
new pipe down eight feet as opposed to six feet as in the past. Jessie Levine said that would be part of the 
water precinct’s project and not the Town’s obligation. Mark Kaplan said, but the Town has agreed to 
cover all flagger and police detail costs, and if the project is extended by a number of days, the Town will 



Board of Selectmen Meeting Minutes   
February 11, 2008 
Page 9 of 12 
 
 
spend more on those items.  Jessie Levine said if they run over the budgeted amount, the first thing they 
would do is try to balance the change orders.   
 
Selectmen agreed to recommend this $75,000 and Brian Prescott will lead discussion of it at Town 
Meeting.  
 
Article 15 asks voters to raise and appropriate $41,000 to update the Master Plan and to authorize 
withdrawal of that amount from the capital reserve. Selectmen agreed to recommend this, and Mark 
Kaplan will lead discussion of it at Town meeting. 
 
Article 16 asks voters to raise and appropriate $60,000 for repairs of gate and associated structures at 
Pleasant Lake Dam, to authorize acceptance of a gift in the amount of $8000 for this purpose, and to 
authorize withdrawal of the balance ($52,000) from the capital reserve.  Selectmen agreed to recommend 
this, and Larry Ballin will lead discussion of it at Town Meeting. 
 
Article 17 asks voters to change the name and purpose of the Recreation Land Capital Reserve to the 
Recreation Facilities Capital Reserve, and to raise and appropriate the sum of $25,000 to be placed into 
this fund.  A 2/3 vote will be required to change the purpose of the reserve. Selectmen agreed to 
recommend this, and Brian Prescott will lead discussion at Town meeting. 
 
Article 18 asks voters to raise and appropriate $40,000 to design and construct a new septic system for the 
Bucklin Beach facilities, and for improvements and sign at the Bob Andrews Memorial Ice Rink and 
Warming Hut, and to authorize the withdrawal of that amount from the reserve named in Article 17. 
Selectmen agreed to recommend this, and Mark Kaplan will lead discussion at Town meeting. 
 
Article 19 asks voters to establish a capital reserve for Gravel Road Improvements and Paving, and to 
raise and appropriate $76,000 to be placed into this fund, and to authorize the Board of Selectmen as 
agents to expend this fund.  Selectmen agreed to recommend this, and Larry Ballin will lead discussion of 
it at Town meeting. 
 
Article 20 asks voters to raise and appropriate $68,000 for upgrading and paving certain gravel roads, and 
to authorize withdrawal of that amount from the reserve named in Article 19. Selectmen agreed to 
recommend this, and Larry Ballin will lead discussion of it.  
 
Article 21 asks voters to establish a capital reserve for closing and filling the sewer lagoons, and to raise 
and appropriate the sum of $12,500 to be placed into this fund, and to authorize the Board of Selectmen 
as agents to expend this fund.  Selectmen agreed to recommend this, and Brian Prescott will lead 
discussion of it at Town Meeting.  
 
Article 22 asks voters to raise and appropriate a sum not to exceed $275,000 to purchase land or other 
property interest therein from the Shultz family (including survey, subdivision, and legal fees), and to 
authorize withdrawal of not more than that amount from the Conservation Land Capital Reserve.   
 
At this meeting, Selectmen acknowledged that this parcel is on the list of land deemed worthy of 
protection in the current Master Plan, but it is not near the top of the list.  All three Selectmen expressed 
reservations about this.  On the other hand, they expressed concern about contradicting a policy 
established and recommended by the CIP subcommittee some years ago. 
 



Board of Selectmen Meeting Minutes   
February 11, 2008 
Page 10 of 12 
 
 
Mark Kaplan said the economy has changed in the last ten years.  He also pointed out that since the idea 
for purchasing this particular parcel was first presented to the Board, they have learned more about the 
land itself. It consists mostly of wetland, and may be developable for only a couple of houses, and those 
upland sites would be near the highway. Larry Ballin agreed that with recent tightening of regulations by 
the Planning Board, this wetland is almost self-protected.  He would be concerned about draining the fund 
without knowing if another desirable (and more developable) parcel will become available in the near 
future.  Brian Prescott asked how much is in that reserve now.  Jessie Levine said it was about $450,000.  
Brian Prescott said that though this would have no impact on this year’s tax rate, he agreed that this might 
not be the right purchase at this time. Mark Kaplan reminded everyone that he has suggested bonding for 
this, and Jessie Levine said that they have had that discussion a couple of times. 
  
Larry Ballin moved to amend the wording of this draft to indicate that Selectmen will not recommend this 
article.  Mark Kaplan seconded. No further discussion. Motion unanimously approved.   
 
Article 23 asks voters to raise and appropriate $3000 to purchase uniforms and equipment for new 
employees in the Police Department. This will be a non-lapsing fund until December 31, 2015.  Jessie 
Levine explained this will keep the appropriation from going into surplus if it is not spent during the year.  
Selectmen agreed to recommend this, and Larry Ballin will lead discussion on it.   
 
Article 24 asks the Town to close the following reserves and to deposit balances plus any accumulated 
interest into the General Fund: Revaluation Reserve-$945; Generator Capital Reserve-$1,958; Bucklin 
Beach Capital Reserve-$283; Hays Dam Reserve-$610.38; Public Works Study Fund-$0. Jessie Levine 
said she will distribute this revenue across all the articles.  Selectmen agreed to recommend this and Brian 
Prescott will lead discussion. 
 
Article 25 asks voters to authorize the Board of Selectmen to enter into a five-year agreement to lease the 
Elkins post office to the US Postal Service, beginning January 1, 2010, upon such terms and conditions as 
the Selectmen deem prudent and in the best interests of the Town. Selectmen agreed to recommend this, 
and Mark Kaplan will lead discussion. Jessie Levine said she does not think there will be any changes to 
this lease. 
 
Article 26 refers to the change in the elderly exemption policy as discussed above in these minutes.  Larry 
Ballin will lead discussion of this at Town meeting. 
 
Article 27 is the petition discussed above in these minutes, and no recommendation is required. 
 
Other: 
 
1. Mark Kaplan asked if they should make the “pie chart presentation” early in the meeting. Larry Ballin 

said he feels people come already prepared, having read up on things ahead of time.  Mark Kaplan 
said there are always a few who have not been to Town Meeting before. In the past they have opened 
with an explanation that people’s tax bills consist of four parts: town, school, county, state, and that 
this meeting will address only the Town portion—or about 20% of the expenses that affect people’s 
tax bills.  Jessie Levine suggested and Selectmen concurred, that a one-page paper hand-out could 
replace the presentation.  

 
2. The February 23 CAC meeting will be devoted to a discussion of the 2008 warrant.  Brian Prescott 

and Jessie Levine will be absent. 
 



Board of Selectmen Meeting Minutes   
February 11, 2008 
Page 11 of 12 
 
 
3. Cotton Cleveland has received the report of the Attorney General’s spot-check of the polling place in 

New London on January 8, and the report is glowing.   
 
4. Selectmen approved and signed the following: 
 
Applications for Building Permits: 
 
� Mark & Donna Reed, 75 Goose Hole Road (Tax Map 042-016-000) excavate foundation from under 

kitchen & replace w/concrete – remove old shed from property (Permit #08-111) Approved. 

 

� Gary Anderson & Cornelia Boyle (Tax Map 020-017-000) erect prefabricated one car 2 story garage  
(Permit #08-012) Approved. 

 
Application for Amendments to Building Permits: 

 

� Virginia Pope, 39 Spruce Lane (Tax Map 044-011-000) redesign of new single story home as result 
of lot size discrepancy – (Permit #07-111) Approved. 

 

� Robert & Elizabeth Kren, 39 Spruce Lane (Tax Map 058-027-005) extend roof system 6’ longer as 
per request of condo association – (Permit #07-159) Approved. 

  
Sign Permits 
 
� Application for a permanent sign, located at 89 Main St. (Tax Map 073-056-000) DSC Bookkeeping 

Services – Approved 
 
Application for use of the Conference Room: 
 

� Adventures in Learning – Tuesday, April 8, 2008, 9:30-11:30am– Sydney Crook Room – Approved. 
 
Application for use of Whipple Hall: 

 

� Kearsarge Community Band Practice, Tuesday March 25th, 8:00 – 9:30 pm – Approved. 
 
Signatures 
 

• Disbursement voucher week of 2/11/08 – Approved. 

• Warden Appointment Form for Forest Fire Warden. RE:  Jason B. Lyon 

• Warrant Land Use Change Tax – Current Use Penalty for property located on Rocky Ridge and 
Westside Drive.  

Meeting adjourned at 10:45 a.m. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
Sarah A. Denz 



Board of Selectmen Meeting Minutes   
February 11, 2008 
Page 12 of 12 
 
 
Recording Secretary 


